O/A 2-3-93

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 4 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 79,263

EARL L. BAMBER,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT  
COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE SECOND DISTRICT  
STATE OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

BRENDA S. TAYLOR  
Assistant Attorney General  
Florida Bar No. 0778079  
PEGGY A. QUINCE  
Assistant Attorney General  
Florida Bar No. 0261041  
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700  
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366  
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

/ahp

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 18, 1989, police obtained a search warrant to search the house of Respondent, Earl Bamber. This warrant was a "no knock" warrant. (R10) In order to obtain the warrant, the police gave the issuing judge an affidavit containing information that a confidential informant had made two controlled buys from Respondent. In one of the controlled buys the confidential informant had worn a transmitter while purchasing drugs from Respondent. The confidential informant told the deputy that Respondent had retrieved cocaine from an area near a bathroom in his home and that there was reason to believe that Respondent had an immediate ability to destroy or get rid of the narcotics by use of the bathroom facilities. The confidential informant also stated that Respondent keeps a Rottweiler in his residence. The affidavit states that the affiant had reason believe that Respondent has an immediate ability to destroy the narcotics by use of bathroom facilities and that the safety of the occupants within the residence and the officers executing the warrant would be greatly enhanced by execution of "no knock" warrant. (R12-16)

Subsequent to the issuing of the "no knock" search warrant, police officers arrived at the Respondent's residence. There was a small amount of construction going on at the residence. (R37) A diversionary bomb was ignited. (R67) As one of the workers was walking out of Respondent's door, the officers entered and secured the entire residence. (R48, 53,58) There

were five people in the residence - Respondent, his wife, one child, and two construction workers. (R40) It was stipulated the police did not knock and announce before entering pursuant to the warrant. (R45) Respondent testified that he was in the master bedroom when the officers entered the house and that the master bedroom had an adjoining bathroom. (R42) The officers had on fatigues with irrodescent letters saying "Sheriff" across the chest. (R49,50,54,65,66) After the officers secured the residence, they searched Respondent and Respondent's home pursuant to the search warrant. (R59) Respondent was found to have eight small baggies of cocaine on his person and a small amount of marijuana. (R. 2, 3, 11). Respondent was arrested and charged with one count of possession of cocaine and one count of possession of cannabis. (R5,6)

The Second District upheld the trial court's granting of Respondent's Motion to Suppress in State v. Bamber, 592 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991) recognizing conflict with the Fifth and Third District Court of Appeals in State v. Bell, 564 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) and Armenteros v. State, 554 So.2d 574 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989). (App. 1) On January 16, 1992 the State filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on the basis of conflict of decisions. This Court granted jurisdiction on July 23, 1992.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the instant case there was reason to believe that Respondent had immediate ability to destroy or get rid of the narcotics by use of the bathroom facilities and that the peril of the officers would be increased if the officers demanded entrance and stated their purpose. Thus, the magistrate was justified in issuing a "no knock" search warrant which the officers properly executed. Further, if this Court should find that in the present case the affidavit underlying the search warrant lacked probable cause rendering the "no knock" search warrant invalid, the State asserts that the "good faith exception" applies to validate the search.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL  
ERRED IN UPHOLDING THE TRIAL COURT'S GRANTING  
OF RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

Petitioner asserts that the Second District Court of Appeal incorrectly ruled that the trial court properly granted Respondent's motion to suppress.

Section 933.09, Fla. Stat. requires an officer to announce his authority and purpose before using force to enter. However, Florida Case Law has carved out exceptions to this requirement. In Benefield v. State, 160 So.2d 706 (Fla. 1964) the Florida Supreme Court listed four exceptions to the requirement set out in the above statute. These exceptions are:

(1) where the person within already knows of the officer's authority and purpose; (2) where the officers are justified in the belief that the persons within are in imminent peril of bodily harm; (3) if the officer's peril would have been increased had he demanded entrance and stated the purpose, or (4) where those within made aware of the presence of someone outside are then engaged in activities which justify the officers in the belief tht an escape or destruction of evidence is being attempted. *Id.* at 710

In Earman v. State, 265 So.2d 695 (Fla.1972) and State v. Kelly, 287 So.2d 13 (Fla.1973) the Florida Supreme Court expanded the fourth exception and held that if police officers at the time

of entry had good reason to fear that evidence would be destroyed then the "knock and announce" rule in the above statute is not required. In Kelly, the Florida Supreme Court stated that if there was evidence that the contraband sought to be suppressed was in relatively small amounts and was near a bathroom or kitchen which provides for easy disposal it is not unreasonable for the officers to conclude an attempt would be made to dispose of the evidence if the officers presence was announced prior to entry. Id. at 16.

In State v. Bell, 564 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) and Armenteros v. State, 554 So.2d 574 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) the police entered and searched the defendant's home after the officers obtained information that the defendants were selling small amounts of cocaine from inside the residences. The residences contained normal residential plumbing. The courts held that because cocaine is marketed in small consumer quantities which can easily be disposed of in a residential sink or toilet, and that attempts are made to destroy evidence in a great majority of drug-related arrests, the "no knock" entries and searches were permissible. As of this date the Second District apparently stands alone in holding in the instant case that the existence of normal plumbing does not dispense without the need to knock and announce during the execution of a search warrant. The State asserts that the rulings in Bell and Armenteros are the better view as they properly apply the rules announced in Earman and Kelly supra.



In the instant case the affidavit given by police to obtain the search warrant contained confirmed information from a confidential informant that Respondent had retrieved cocaine from an area near a bathroom in his home and that there was reason to believe that Respondent had an immediate ability to destroy or get rid of the narcotics by use of the bathroom facilities. (R15-16) Respondent testified that he was in the master bedroom when the officers entered the house and that the master bedroom had an adjoining bathroom. Respondent was arrested with eight small baggies of cocaine totaling 30.9 grams on his person and a small amount of marijuana. (R. 2, 3, 11). According to Earman, Kelly, Bell and Armenteros the facts of the instant case indicate that the magistrate was justified in issuing a "no knock" search warrant because Respondent had an immediate ability to destroy the narcotics seized.

Further the third exception to the knock and announce rule listed under Benefield, that the officers' peril would have been increased had the officer demanded entrance and stated the purpose, also applies in the instant case. The affidavit underlying the search warrant contains information that Respondent kept a rottweiler in his residence. In State v. Hills, 428 So.2d 715 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) the Fourth District held that the entry of a K-9 officer and back up officers to subdue vicious dogs guarding the premises to be searched fell within the exception to the knock and announce statute. It is commonly known that a rottweiler is used for protection and are very often

"vicious". Therefore the evidence that Respondent had a rottweiler on the premises presented the magistrate with yet another reason to issue the "no knock" search warrant.

Finally, if this Court should find that in the present case the affidavit underlying the search warrant lacked probable cause rendering the "no knock" search warrant invalid, the State asserts that the "good faith exception" established in United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 104 S.Ct. 3405, 82 L.Ed.2d 677 reh. den. 468 U.S. 1250, 105 S.Ct. 52, 82 L.Ed.2d 942 (1984), applies to validate the search. in Leon the United States Supreme Court held that the exclusionary rule does not apply when police act in good faith on a defective search warrant. The court in Leon suggested four exceptions to the good faith defense for reliance on a defective search warrant:

1. The affidavit underlying the warrant is so lacking in probable cause that no reasonable police officer would have relied on it;
2. The warrant is defective on its face;
3. The affiant lied to or misled the magistrate; or
4. The magistrate has "wholly abandoned his judicial role."

None of the four exceptions apply to the instant case. As stated above the search warrant contained information in which a reasonable officer could have relied. The warrant itself did not contain any specific defects. It stated with particularity the place to be searched and items to be seized. (R10) There is no

indication that the affiant, Detective Kennedy, lied to or mislead the magistrate when stating the facts concerning the present case. Finally, there is no indication that the judge issuing the search warrant abandoned his judicial role in doing so.

Because none of the four exceptions apply to the present case, the "good faith exception" set forth in Leon, supra is applicable. Therefore, according to Leon the search of the Respondent's residence was valid.