DA 2-3-93

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

DEC 28 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

State of Florida,  
Petitioner,

v.

Earl L. Bamber,  
Respondent.

Case No. 79,263

AMENDED

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

DOUGLAS L. GROSE, ESQUIRE  
112 S. Armenia Avenue  
Tampa, Florida 33609-3308  
(813) 251-3380  
Florida Bar No. 173673

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

State of Florida,  
Petitioner,

v.

Earl L. Bamber,  
Respondent.

Case No. 79,263

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT  
COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE SECOND DISTRICT  
STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

DOUGLAS L. GROSE, ESQUIRE

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The homes of the people of Florida are still their "castles" in the historic sense of the term as used throughout the centuries of English and American Jurisprudence. The unannounced entry into our homes by arms of the government violates our inalienable constitutional rights to privacy and to be free of unreasonable search and seizures.

In this case, the evidence is clear that the police sought to search a home without having to comply with the "knock and announce" provisions of Florida Statute §933.09 and our Constitution. The warrant, as issued, was void of any stated factual basis upon which a "no knock warrant" could be issued and no such warrant could have been legally issued under the stated facts. Additionally, the warrant was "executed" by a "SWAT-type" team which totally disregarded Florida Statute §933.09 and §933.17. As such, the warrant would be illegally executed unless the State could prove some legitimate exception to F.S. §933.09 existed at the time of entry. The State failed to establish any justification whatsoever for ignoring the "knock and announce" law and the requirement that the warrant be read before the search was conducted, therefore, the suppression motion was properly granted.

The "SWAT" team who initiated the execution of the search warrant began searching the home and individuals prior to the warrant being read. Although this alone is sufficient grounds to affirm the suppression of the evidence, it is highlighted in this

brief as a further example of the lack of "good faith" being used by law enforcement in the execution of the search warrant and total lack of intent to follow F.S. §933.09 regarding its requirements for the execution of a search warrant.

The English common law from as far back as the 1600's, the common law of the United States, the law governing federal law enforcement and the Florida statutory requirements regarding the rights of the people to be free of unreasonable search and seizures have encompassed and today still require that the government announce its presence and purpose before it seeks to enter one's home.

An exception to the "knock and announce" requirement whether it be an objective, reasonable and reviewable exigent circumstance or whether it be because of the "good faith" exception as provided by United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 104 S.Ct. 3405 (1984) did not and cannot be shown to exist in this case. As such and because the Florida Supreme court is charged with the duty to uphold the Constitution and laws of Florida for the protection of the rights of the citizens of Florida, the decisions of the trial court and the Second District Court of Appeals in this matter should be affirmed and contrary appearing State precedent should be clarified to ensure these basic human rights protections.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1

WHETHER THE EXISTENCE OF NORMAL PLUMBING IN ONE'S HOME ALLOWS POLICE TO EXECUTE A "NO KNOCK" WARRANT TO SEARCH FOR SMALL AMOUNTS OF NARCOTICS THAT MAY--IN THEORY--BE FLUSHED DOWN THE TOILET?

**A. "NO KNOCK" SEARCH WARRANTS ARE NOT PERMITTED UNDER FLORIDA STATUTORY LAW--THEREFORE THE POLICE ACTED ILLEGALLY.**

At common law, and under present state and federal statutes, a police officer, who seeks entry into a home for the purpose of a search, must first identify himself, state the purpose for demanding entry, and allow time for the door to be opened. This is the so called "knock and announce" rule which has long been recognized in Anglo-American common law. 1 Wharton's Criminal Procedure § 165 (13th ed. 1989). In Florida this rule is codified as follows:

The officer may break open any outer door, inner door or window of a house, or any part of a house or anything therein, to execute the warrant, if after due notice of his authority and purpose he is refused admittance to said house or access to anything therein.

Fla. Stat. Ann., § 933.09 (1985) (emphasis added). In Florida, the legislature has not given police the authority to apply for "no knock" warrants. The "knock and announce" rule is codified in absolute terms. Therefore, it is not surprising that the judge who approved the search did not authorize a "no knock" warrant. Detective Kennedy, an officer with sixteen years of service, knew--or should have known--that in the State of Florida "no knock" warrants are illegal. This Court should not allow the police to circumvent clear and unambiguous State law.

Florida courts have consistently held that statutes and rules authorizing searches must be strictly construed, and affidavits and warrants issued pursuant to such authority must meticulously conform to statutory and constitutional provisions. State v. Lopez, 590 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991); Bonilla v. State, 579 So.2d 802 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); State v. Tolmie, 421 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); see also Gildrie v. State, 94 Fla. 134, 113 So. 704 (Fla. 1927). In summarizing the rationale for this rule, this Court said that:

The reason for this strict adherence is obvious. Aside from the constitutional ramifications of failure to guard against unreasonable searches, the legislated rules which regulate the issuance of warrants, and the conduct of searches, are intended not only to guarantee those constitutional rights, but to prevent the real and significant specter of police misconduct. To allow any variance from these express legislative mandates would not only flaunt legislative authority to regulate such conduct, but actually encourage misconduct.

Bernie v. State, 524 So.2d 988, 998 (Fla. 1988). Florida law is clear that once this statute is violated, all evidence seized as a result of the ensuing search must be excluded. Benefield v. State, 160 So.2d 706, 711 (Fla. 1964). Additionally, when police actions cannot be shown to be "objectively reasonable", as they can not in this case, the exclusionary rule requires the suppression of evidence "to deter unlawful searches by the police". Massachusetts v. Sheppard, 104 S.Ct. 3424, 468 U.S. 981, 990 (1983).

Recognizing one of the most basic right of the citizens, even before our Revolutionary War, Florida Courts have consistently pointed out, when an officer is authorized to make

an arrest or execute a search warrant in any building, he should first approach the entrance to the building. He should then knock on the door and announce his name and authority and what his purpose is in being there. If he is admitted and has a warrant he may execute it. If he is refused admission he may then enter without permission even if he has to break in. F.S. §901.19 (1985); F.S. §933.09 (1985). Until State v. Bell, 564 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) and Armenteros v. State, 554 So.2d 574 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991), the only judicially recognized exceptions to the "knock and announce" requirements have been logical and objectively based:

(1) Where the person already knows of the officers' authority or purpose;

(2) Where the officers are justified in the belief that the persons within are in eminent peril of bodily harm;

(3) If the officers' peril would have been increased had he demanded entrance and stated the purpose; or

(4) Where those within were made aware of the presence of someone outside are then engaged in activities which justify the officers in the belief that an escape or destruction of evidence is being attempted. Jones v. State, 440 So.2d 570, 573 (Fla. 1983), citing Benefield v. State, 160 So.2d 706 (Fla. 1964); State v. Hume, 463 So.2d 499, 501 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

These four exceptions have at least one thing in common: they apply when the officers at the home and at the time of execution see the people inside and those people are aware of the

officers' presence or (2) where the officers at the home and at the time of the execution objectively determine that the purpose of the warrant will likely be thwarted if they "knock and announce", then and only then, may the "knock and announce" requirements be circumvented. Thus, all the exceptions occur at the home and at the time the search is to occur.

The facts, even as presented to this Court in Petitioner's initial brief, do not establish any of the above exceptions to the requirements that the Police knock and announce before they enter the Defendant's private residence. The historical reason for our state law was explained clearly in Benefield. "Entering a person's home without legal authority and neglect to give the occupants notice have been condemned by the law and the common custom of this country and England from time immemorial." 160 So.2d at 709.

In the instant cause, starting with the intentional attempt to circumvent the law, the improper making of the application for a "no knock" search warrant, considering the total absence of any factual basis and continuing right up through the officers' intentional disregard of F.S. §933.09, by their violent entry into Defendant's home, the officers totally ignored every requirement of the law as stated above. Unlike the factual situations in the cases cited by Petitioner, the "king's men" had already determined, before arriving at Defendant's home, that the law would not be followed and they continued with their illegal plan.

At the hearing on Defendant's Motion to Suppress, the police officer and the State Attorney attempted to justify the "Swat" team's violation of the two Florida Statutes (requiring the officers to knock and announce before entering a home) by claiming that they were entitled to the use of an exception to those Statutes as indicated in the fourth exception to the "knock and announce" requirements of F.S. §933.09, as cited in the Benefield decision.

From the outset, when Detective Kennedy went to Judge Lenfestey with his affidavit, the only information given to the Judge, as contained in the affidavit, is that the confidential informant had made purchases of quantities of drugs for unknown amounts of money on two (2) separate occasions and that Mr. Bamber was seen retrieving cocaine from an area within the home that would be near a bathroom. The officer opined in his affidavit for the search warrant application that, in his opinion, Mr. Bamber "could" attempt to destroy the contraband if knocking and announcing was required. Factually, all the officer presented to the Judge in the search warrant application was that Mr. Bamber's home had a bathroom like every other home in a residential neighborhood. There was no indication in the Officer's affidavit and/or application for a search warrant of the amount of contraband expected to be found at the Defendant's residence nor was there any evidence to support the officer's speculative opinion that any such contraband could or much less would be destroyed.

The application for a so-called "no knock" search warrant is in and of itself legally improper. As in the case of an anticipatory search warrant, the law enforcement officers attempted to have the Court rule in advance that exigent circumstances would arise or be present in the future regardless of the actual circumstances and to therefor preapprove a waiver of Florida Statute §933.09.

The key to this entire case are the specific words cited in the Petitioner's Brief - "at the time of entry". The exception that can on occasion be used to avoid the "knock and announce" provisions of the previously mentioned Statutes is that the evidence sought pursuant to the search warrant is relatively small amounts of disposable contraband, and the Court has been shown that the officers had reason to fear, at the time of entry, the destruction of evidence. State v. Kelly, 287 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1973) (emphasis added). The State seeks to read into Kelly an exception that the Court never created. This court, in Kelly only remanded the case back to the trial court to determine "whether or not there existed good reason to fear at the time of entry the destruction of evidence." Kelly at 17. Although the wording of Kelly is questioned later in this Brief, Kelly's ruling gives no support to the State's position. State v. Avendano, 540 So.2d 920 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989).

This issue was well addressed in State v. Avendano before this Honorable Court in 1989 where the State attempted to rely on the information that firearms were likely to be present on the

premises to be searched. The Court clearly pointed out in that opinion that the officers' vague testimony in an attempt to support a Benefield exception is not sufficient. The Court went on to state that, if additional information, i.e. articulable facts that the people inside the residence to be searched on the very morning of the execution of the search warrant would be armed with firearms, that type of factual basis could provide a basis for a waiver of the requirement to knock and announce the officers' entrance. However, none of these facts were presented to the issuing Magistrate in this case, nor were any such facts elicited from Detective Kennedy at the hearing on the Motion to Suppress. In fact, Detective Kennedy clearly pointed out that he was not even present for the execution of the search warrant.

Chief Judge Gorshon of the Fifth District Court of Appeals in an opinion filed in September of this year, pointed out the danger in misapplication of State v. Bell, 564 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) (and Armenteros v. State 554 So.2d 574 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989)), stating Bell renders F.S. §933.09 meaningless. He correctly pointed out this court wisely rejected broadening the "knock and announce" exceptions to include instances where the facts showed the destruction could versus would be immediately destroyed. In recommending the adoption of the reasoning of the Second District Court of Appeals in this case, he would "require evidence of articulable and particularized facts showing more than small quantities of drugs and indoor plumbing" before abandoning F.S. §933.09. Judge Gorshon is right! Our own

Constitution requires more, and so should our Supreme Court.

See: State v. Thomas, 17 FLW D2130, 2131 (Fla. 5th DCA Sept. 11, 1992).

**B. "NO KNOCK" SEARCH WARRANTS ARE ILLEGAL UNDER FEDERAL LAW.**

Execution of search warrants by federal agents is governed by 21 U.S.C. § 3109 (1988), which is virtually identical to Florida's § 933.09, and provides that:

The officer may break open any outer or inner door or window of a house, or any part of a house, or anything therein, to execute a search warrant, if, after notice of his authority and purpose, he is refused admittance or when necessary to liberate himself or a person aiding him in the execution of the warrant. (emphasis added)

Courts construing the statute have consistently held that an officer cannot break into a house to effect a search, unless he first (1) knocks on the door and identifies himself as a police officer, (2) states his lawful purpose, and (3) is refused admittance. For a detailed list of case authority, see Annotation, What Constitutes Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 3109 Requiring Federal Officer to Give Notice of His Authority and Purpose Prior to Breaking Open Door or Window or Other Part of House to Execute Search Warrant, 21 A.L.R.Fed. 820. Under present federal statutes, "no knock" warrants are illegal.

The knock and announce rule was first enacted as a criminal provision under national emergency conditions in 1917 as part of a controversial bill designed to aid in detection and prosecution of espionage and arms smuggling to enemy forces during World War I. Congress thus was acutely aware of the applicability of the statute

to cases involving weapons and indicated an awareness also of its applicability to cases involving destructible evidence such as opium, liquor and gambling paraphernalia. The legislative history of § 3109 shows that Congress knew the that notice requirement might allow evidence to be destroyed, but did not provide exceptions for "no knock" warrants. See, H.R. 291, 65th Cong., 1st Sess., Cong. Rec. 1,839; 2,070 (1917). In 1923, Florida's counterpart to 18 U.S.C. § 3109, and the predecessor of § 933.09, was enacted in Ch. 9321, § 9, Laws of Fla. (1923).

The rule serves three important purposes: (1) preserving the individual's right to be free from unexpected, frightening, and embarrassing intrusions into the privacy of his home; (2) avoiding the unnecessary violence which frequently accompanies unannounced invasions of private dwellings by alerting the resident that the officer is lawfully on the premises; and (3) preventing the physical destruction of the resident's home by giving the resident the opportunity to admit the officer voluntarily. 2 LaFave, Search and Seizure, §. 4.8(a) (2nd ed. 1987). The underlying policy consideration is that, in each case, the occupants are entitled to a presumption of innocence and to the assumption that they will voluntarily open the door to officers who announce their authority and lawful purpose. It is sad and ironic that the State seeks that our Courts allow circumvention of our laws and Constitution in cases where it claims small amounts of drugs are present when the State knows it cannot even make such a request when more serious crimes are

alleged to be involved.

In the case at bar, both the Petitioners' brief and the decisions of the District Court of Appeals in State v. Bell, 564 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), and Armenteros v. State, 554 So.2d 574 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991), underscore the weight of a valid search warrant with its inherent finding that probable cause exists to believe that drugs are inside the home. It follows from that, they reason, that the occupants will instantly flush evidence down the toilet or prepare to attack the police as soon as they hear the knock. Logically, they argue, refusal must be assumed when searching for drugs. But the notice requirement presumes the existence of a valid search warrant, yet insists that police first knock and announce their presence. The legislative history shows that, while drug warrant cases definitely occurred at the time of the enactment of § 3109, Congress did not exclude them from the ambit of the statutory requirement.

This Court should not allow police to circumvent clear and unambiguous statutory requirements. As Justice Brandeis said:

If the Government becomes a lawbreaker it breeds contempt for law; it invites every man to become a law unto himself; it invites anarchy. To declare that in the administration of the criminal law the end justifies the means--to declare that the Government may commit crimes in order to secure the conviction of a private criminal--would bring terrible retribution. Against that pernicious doctrine this court should resolutely set its face.

Olmstead v. United States, 277 U.S. 438, 485, 48 S.Ct. 564, 72 L.Ed. 944 (1928).

C. "NO KNOCK" WARRANTS VIOLATE THE FLORIDA AND THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.

The District Court of Appeals in Bell, 564 So.2d at 1237, and Armenteros, 554 So.2d at 575, reasoned that a general course of conduct by a particular class of alleged lawbreakers can raise an automatic presumption of exigency. These courts would have judges issue "no knock" warrants on a theory based on general police experience that small quantities of drugs can be, and sometimes are, easily flushed down a toilet on short notice. These decisions, in effect provide for an automatic authorization of police searches for drugs in this state by unannounced entries into the private homes of Florida citizens. Such searches are in violation of the Florida and the United States Constitutions.

Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution provides that rights involving searches and seizures will be construed in conformity with the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, as interpreted by the United States Supreme Court and that evidence which is not admissible under the Fourth Amendment is not admissible under the Florida Constitution. See Fla. Const., Art. I, § 12 (1983).

The United States Supreme Court squarely considered the "knock and announce" rule in 1958 in Miller v. United States, 357 U.S. 301, 306-310, 78 S.Ct. 1190, 2 L.Ed.2d 1332 (1958). In Miller, the trial court refused to suppress certain narcotics following a forceful entry by officers who had announced: "Police!" but had failed to state their purpose. In reversing,

Justice Brennan, wrote:

Congress, codifying a tradition embedded in Anglo-American law, has declared in § 3109 the reverence of the law for the individual's right of privacy in his house. Every householder, the good and the bad, the guilty and the innocent, is entitled to the protection designed to secure the common interest against unlawful invasion of the house.

Id. at 313.

The "knock and announce" rule dates back to as early as 1603. In Semayne's Case, 5 Co. Rep. 91a, 11 E.R.C. 629, 77 Eng. Repr. 194 (1603), the Court stated:

In all cases where the King is party, the sheriff (if the doors be not open) may break the party's house, either to arrest him, or to do other execution of the K.'s process, if otherwise he cannot enter. But before he breaks it, he ought to signify the cause of this coming, and to make request to open doors . . . ."

Id. (emphasis added.)

Since the Semayne's Case, the requirement that an officer must announce his authority and purpose before forcefully entering a private home has received widespread support from the commentators, has been judicially accepted by the courts of this country, and has been enacted into law by a majority of the state legislatures. For a detailed list of case authority, see Annotation, What Constitutes Compliance With Knock And Announce Rule in Search of Private Premises--State Cases, 70 A.L.R.3d 217. The United States Supreme Court has recognized that the requirement has become so "deeply rooted in our heritage" that it "should not be given grudging application." Miller, 357 U.S. at 313. In Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 1332 (1963), the Supreme Court's next major opportunity to

consider its holding in Miller, the Court again noted that the notice requirement was developed "in order to make effective the fundamental constitutional guarantees of sanctity of the home and inviolability of the person." Id. at 484.

Up to 1963, "the knock and announce" requirement itself had not yet been stated as a Constitutional requirement. Prior holdings had been based on common law, state law, § 3109, and various combinations of these authorities. However, the Constitutional underpinnings of the knock and announce rule were clearly recognized by the Supreme Court in Ker v. California, 374 U.S. 23, 83 S.Ct. 1623, 10 L.Ed.2d 726 (1963). In Ker, eight justices agreed that a police officer's failure to knock and announce is a violation of the Fourth Amendment. Since Ker, the federal circuit courts have followed this holding. United States v. Mueller, 902 F.2d 336, 343 (5th Cir. 1990) (citing cases). It follows then that a statutory violation of Florida's "knock and announce" rule is also a constitutional violation of the Fourth Amendment's prohibition against unreasonable search and seizure and mandates use of the federal exclusionary rule.

Under both the Federal and State Constitutional provisions dealing with searches and seizures there exists a requirement that the police knock and announce their authority before conducting a search of a home. It is equally apparent, however, that certain exigent circumstances confronting the police at the time of the search may excuse the police from announcing their presence. This is the question that the Supreme Court confronted in Ker v.

California.

Justice Brennan and the three justices concurring in his opinion would not have allowed an unannounced entry under the facts presented in Ker. Rather Justice Brennan listed the three traditional common law exceptions, which each require some type of activity at the actual scene of the search to justify the unannounced entry. Ker, 374 U.S. at 47. Justice Clark and the three justices joining with him, on the other hand, found the entry in this case permissible under the "particular circumstances" of the case. Ker 374 U.S. at 40-41. Justice Clark, however, agreed that an exception exists only when the police become aware of exigent circumstances immediately prior to a search, "[W]ithout the benefit of hindsight and ordinarily on the spur of the moment the officer must decide these questions in the first instance." Ker, 374 U.S. at 40, quoting People v. Maddox, 46 Cal.2d 301, 294 P.2d 6 (Cal. 1956).<sup>1</sup> Justice Clark

---

<sup>1</sup> Justice Clark quoted extensively, stating approval of Maddox. In Maddox, Justice Traynor had noted that the sound of retreating footsteps created a good faith belief that evidence would be destroyed. After that case, however, the appellate courts of California upheld unannounced entrances of police searching for narcotics on no more basis than general experience that evidence could be easily destroyed. The abuse which was occurring under this judicially created "no knock" exception led the California Supreme Court to abruptly halt the growth of such a standard. In People v. Gastelo, 67 Cal.2d 586, 432 P.2d 706 (Cal. 1967), Chief Justice Traynor, speaking for a unanimous court, held that compliance with California's knock and announce requirement would not be excused by an automatic blanket rule authorizing police to make unannounced entries into private homes just because evidence could be easily destroyed. Only where particular circumstances give rise to a reasonable belief that immediate action is necessary to prevent destruction would an unannounced entry be held lawful. Id. at 588-89. Later, in People v. Dumas, 512 P.2d 1208 (Cal. 1973), the California Supreme Court expanded the approach taken in

focused on the furtive conduct of the defendant prior to the time of the search which seemed to indicate he was aware of the presence of the police. The exceptions under both approaches can only be justified by certain particular circumstances known to the police.

In Ker, Justice Brennan presented the definitive statement of the recognized exceptions to the knock and announce rule:

[T]he Fourth Amendment is violated by an unannounced police intrusion into a private home, with or without an arrest warrant, except (1) where the persons within already know of the officers' authority and purpose, or (2) where the officers are justified in the belief that persons within are in imminent peril of bodily harm, or (3) where those within, made aware of the presence of someone outside (because, for example, there has been a knock at the door), are then engaged in activity which justifies the officers in the belief that an escape or the destruction of evidence is being attempted."

372 U.S. at 47 (emphasis added). The phrases "imminent" and "is being attempted" indicate that these exceptions rest upon the facts existing when the police undertake to execute the search warrant, and not upon a mere suspicion which the officer may state to the issuing judge based on general experience.

One year after Ker, the Supreme Court of Florida, citing both Miller and Ker, held that, even if probable cause exists to arrest the suspect, the knock and announce rule is violated unless "those within made aware of the presence of someone

---

Gastelo to the police safety exception by announcing that police knowledge that a suspect possesses a firearm will not itself justify unannounced entry. There must be "specific facts," not merely "broad unsupported presumptions," that justify the officers' belief that the weapon will be used against them if they proceed with ordinary announcements. Id. at 1213.

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